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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
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COMPETITIVE IMPACT STATEMENT

Plaintiff United States of America ("United States"), pursuant to Section 2(b) of the Antitrust
Procedures and Penalties Act ("APPA" or "Tunney Act"), 15 U.S.C. § 16(b)-(h), files this
Competitive Impact Statement relating to the proposed Final Judgment submitted for entry in
this civil antitrust proceeding.

I. NATURE AND PURPOSE OF THE PROCEEDING

The United States brought this lawsuit against Defendants Adobe Systems, Inc. ("Adobe"),
Apple Inc. ("Apple"), Google Inc. ("Google"), Intel Corporation ("Intel"), Intuit, Inc. ("Intuit")
and Pixar, on September 24, 2010, to remedy violations of Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15
U.S.C. § 1. The Complaint alleges that Defendants entered into a series of bilateral
agreements, pursuant to which a Defendant agreed not to cold call another Defendant's
employees for employment opportunities. The effect of these agreements was to reduce
Defendants' competition for highly skilled technical employees ("high tech employees"),
diminish potential employment opportunities for those same employees, and interfere in the
proper functioning of the price-setting mechanism that would otherwise have prevailed.
Defendants' agreements are naked restraints of trade and violate Section 1 of the Sherman Act,
15US.C.§1.

At the same time the Complaint was filed, the United States also filed a proposed Final
Judgment, which would remedy the violation by having the Court declare the Defendants' cold
calling agreements illegal, enjoin Defendants from enforcing any such agreements currently in
effect, and prohibit Defendants from entering similar agreements in the future.

The United States and Defendants have stipulated that the proposed Final Judgment may be




entered after compliance with the APPA, unless the United States withdraws its consent. Entry
of the proposed Final Judgment would terminate this action, except that this Court would
retain jurisdiction to construe, modify, and enforce the proposed Final Judgment and to punish
violations thereof.

II. DESCRIPTION OF THE EVENTS GIVING RISE TO THE
ALLEGED VIOLATION OF THE ANTITRUST LAWS

The six Defendants entered into five substantially similar agreements that restrained
competition for employees and were not disclosed to the affected employees. These
agreements banned cold calling of employees. Cold calling involves communicating directly
in any manner (including orally, in writing, telephonically, or electronically) with another
firm's employee who has not otherwise applied for a job opening. The agreements were
between (i) Apple and Google, (ii) Apple and Adobe, (iii) Apple and Pixar, (iv) Google and
Intel, and (v) Google and Intuit. Aside from the Google and Intuit agreement, which only
prohibited Google from cold calling any Intuit employee, each agreement covered all
employees at both firms that were parties to the agreement. Senior executives at each firm
entered the express agreements, and implemented and enforced them.

Defendants' agreements disrupted the competitive market forces for employee talent. The
agreements are facially anticompetitive because they eliminated a significant form of
competition to attract high tech employees, and, overall, substantially diminished competition
to the detriment of the affected employees who were likely deprived of competitively
important information and access to better job opportunities.

Each of the five agreements was a naked restraint of trade that was per se unlawful under
Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1.

Apple-Google Agreement

Beginning no later than 2006, Apple and Google agreed not to cold call each other's
employees. Senior executives at Apple and Google reached this express agreement through
direct and explicit communications. The executives actively managed and enforced the
agreement through direct communications. The agreement covered all employees of both
firms and was not limited by geography, job function, product group, or time period. In
furtherance of this agreement, Apple placed Google on its internal "Do Not Call List," which
instructed employees not to actively solicit employees from the listed companies. Similarly,
Google listed Apple among the companies that had special agreements with Google and were
part of its "Do Not Cold Call" list. On occasion, Apple complained to Google when it believed
the agreement had been breached. Each time, Google conducted an internal investigation to
determine whether Google violated the agreement and reported its findings back to Apple.

Apple-Adobe Agreement

Beginning no later than May 2005, Apple requested an agreement from Adobe to refrain from
cold calling each other's employees. Faced with the likelihood that refusing would result in
retaliation and significant competition for its employees, Adobe agreed. Senior executives at
Apple and Adobe reached this express agreement through direct and explicit communications.
The executives actively managed and enforced the agreement through direct communications.
The agreement covered all employees of both firms and was not limited by geography, job
function, product group, or time period. In furtherance of this agreement, Apple placed Adobe
on its internal "Do Not Call List," and similarly, Adobe included Apple in its internal list of
"Companies that are off limits,"

Apple-Pixar Agreement




Beginning no later than April 2007, Apple and Pixar agreed that they would not cold call each
other's employees. Executives at Apple and Pixar reached this express agreement through
direct and explicit communications. The executives actively managed and enforced the
agreement through direct communications. The agreement covered all employees of both
firms and was not limited by geography, job function, product group, or time period. In
furtherance of this agreement, Apple placed Pixar on its internal "Do Not Call List" and senior
executives at Pixar instructed human resources personnel to adhere to the agreement and
maintain a paper trail in the event Apple accused Pixar of violating the agreement.

Google-Intel Agreement

Beginning no later than September 2007, Google and Intel agreed to refrain from cold calling
each other's employees. Senior executives at Google and Intel reached this express agreement
through direct and explicit communications. The executives actively managed and enforced
the agreement through direct communications. The agreement covered all employees of both
firms and was not limited by geography, job function, product group, or time period. In
furtherance of this agreement, Google listed Intel among the companies that have special
agreements with Google and are part of its "Do Not Call" list. Similarly, Intel instructed its
human resources staff about the existence of the agreement.

Google-Intuit Agreement

Beginning no later than June 2007, Google and Intuit agreed to prohibit Google from cold
calling any Intuit employee. Senior executives at Google and Intel reached this express
agreement through direct and explicit communications. The executives actively managed and
enforced the agreement through direct communications. The agreement covered all Intuit
employees and was not limited by geography, job function, product group, or time period. In
furtherance of this agreement, Google listed Intuit among the companies that have special
agreements with Google and are part of its "Do Not Call" list. Google policed the agreement to
ensure it was followed, including by investigating complaints from Intuit that Google had
violated the agreement, On each occasion, Google determined that it had not violated the
agreement and informed Intuit.

III. THE AGREEMENTS WERE NAKED RESTRAINTS AND NOT ANCILLARY
TO ACHIEVING LEGITIMATE BUSINESS PURPOSES

Section 1 of the Sherman Act outlaws "[e]very contract, combination in the form of trust or
otherwise, or conspiracy, in restraint of trade or commerce among the several States."

15 U.S.C. § 1. The Sherman Act is designed to ensure "free and unfettered competition as the
rule of trade. It rests on the premise that the unrestrained interaction of competitive forces will
yield the best allocation of our economic resources, the lowest prices, the highest quality and
the greatest material progress . . . ." National Collegiate Athletic Ass'n v. Board of Regents of
Univ. of Okla., 468 U.S. 85, 104 n.27 (1984) (quoting Northern Pac. Ry. v. United States, 356
U.S. 1, 4-5 (1958)).

The law has long recognized that "certain agreements or practices which because of their
pernicious effect on competition and lack of any redeeming virtue are conclusively presumed
to be unreasonable and therefore illegal without elaborate inquiry as to the precise harm they
have caused or the business excuse for their use." Northern Pac. Ry., 356 U.S. at 545. Such
naked restraints of competition among horizontal competitors (i.e., agreements that have a
pernicious effect on competition with no redeeming virtue) are deemed per se unlawful.

The United States has previously challenged restraints on employment as per se illegal. In
1996, the United States challenged guidelines designed to curb competition between residency
programs for senior medical students and residents of other programs. Members of the




Association of Family Practice Residency Directors had agreed not to directly solicit residents
from each other, conduct recognized as "per se unlawful”" under Section 1. United States v.
Ass'n of Family Practice Residency Doctors, No. 96-575-CV-W-2, Complaint at 6 (W.D.Mo.
May 28, 1996); Competitive Impact Statement, 61 Federal Register 28891, 28894 (W.D.Mo.
May 28, 1996). The Court entered an agreed-upon Final Judgment, enjoining the association
from restraining competition among residency programs for residents, including enjoining all
prohibitions on direct and indirect solicitation of residents from other programs. 1996-2 Trade
Cases § 71,533, 28894 (W.D.Mo. Aug. 15, 1996).

In analogous circumstances, the Sixth Circuit has held that an agreement among competitors
not to solicit one another's customers was a per se violation of the antitrust laws, U.S. v.
Cooperative Theaters of Ohio, Inc., 845 F.2d 1367 (6th Cir. 1988). In that case, two movie
theater booking agents agreed to refrain from actively soliciting each other's customers.
Despite the defendants' arguments that they "remained free to accept unsolicited business from
their competitors' customers," id. (emphasis in original), the Sixth Circuit found their “no-
solicitation agreement” was "undeniably a type of customer allocation scheme which courts
have often condemned in the past as a per se violation of the Sherman Act." Id. at 1373,

Antitrust analysis of downstream, customer-related restraints is equally applicable to upstream
monopsony restraints on employment opportunities. In 1991, the Antitrust Division brought an
action against conspirators who competed to procure billboard leases and had agreed to refrain
from bidding on each other's former leases for a year after the space was lost or abandoned by
the other conspirator. Unifted States v. Brown, 936 F.2d 1042 (9th Cir. 1991) (affirming jury
verdict convicting defendants of conspiring to restrain trade in violation of 15 U.S.C. §1). The
agreement was limited to an input market (the procurement of billboard leases) and did not
extend to downstream sales (in which the parties also competed). In affirming defendants'
convictions, the appellate court held that the agreement was per se unlawful:

The agreement restricted each company's ability to compete for the other's
billboard sites. It clearly allocated markets between the two billboard companies.
A market allocation agreement between two companies at the same market level
is a classic per se antitrust violation.

Id. at 1045.

There is no basis for distinguishing allocation agreements based on whether they involve input
or output markets. Anticompetitive agreements in both input and output markets create
allocative inefficiencies. Hence, naked restraints on cold calling customers, suppliers, or
employees are similarly per se unlawful.

Still, an agreement that would normally be condemned as a per se unlawful restraint on
competition may nonetheless be lawful if it is ancillary to a legitimate procompetitive venture
and reasonably necessary to achieve the procompetitive benefits of the collaboration,
Ancillary restraints therefore are not per se unlawful, but rather evaluated under the rule of

reason, which balances a restraint's procompetitive benefits against its anticompetitive effects.
() To be considered "ancillary" under established antitrust law, however, the restraint must be

a necessary or intrinsic part of the procompetitive collaboration. 2} Restraints that are broader
than reasonably necessary to achieve the efficiencies from a business collaboration are not
ancillary and are properly treated as per se unlawful.

Although Defendants at times engaged in legitimate collaborative projects, the agreements to
ban cold calling were not, under established antitrust law, properly ancillary to those
collaborations. Defendants' agreements were not tied to any specific collaboration, nor were
they narrowly tailored to the scope of any specific collaboration. The agreements extended to
all employees at the firms, including those who had little or nothing to do with the




collaboration at issue. The agreements were not limited by geography, job function, product
group, or time period. This overbreadth and other evidence demonstrated that the no cold
calling agreements were not reasonably necessary for any collaboration and, hence, not
ancillary. The lack of reasonable necessity for these broad agreements is demonstrated also by
the fact that Defendants successfully collaborated with other companies without similar
agreements, or with agreements containing more narrowly focused hiring restrictions.

Some Defendants had extensive business relationships with one another and, in some cases,
common board memberships. Such generalized relationships, however, cannot themselves
justify overly broad restraints on competition.

Defendants' agreements regarding cold calling of employees are per se unlawful under Section
1 of the Sherman Act. Defendants' concerted behavior both reduced their ability to compete
for employees and disrupted the normal price-setting mechanisms that apply in the labor
setting. These no cold call agreements agreements are facially anticompetitive because they
eliminated a significant form of competition to attract high tech employees, and, overall,
substantially diminished competition to the detriment of the affected employees who were
likely deprived of competitively important information and access to better job opportunities.

IV. EXPLANATION OF THE PROPOSED FINAL JUDGMENT

The proposed Final Judgment sets forth (1) conduct in which the parties may not engage; (2)
conduct in which the parties may engage without violating the proposed Final Judgment;

(3) certain actions the parties are required to take to ensure compliance with the terms of the
proposed Final Judgment; and (4) oversight procedures the United States may use to ensure
compliance with the proposed Final Judgment. Section VI of the proposed Final Judgment
provides that these provisions will expire five years after entry of the proposed Final
Judgment.

A, Prohibited Conduct

Section IV of the proposed Final Judgment preserves competition for employees by
prohibiting Defendants, and all other persons in active concert or participation with any of the
Defendants with notice of the proposed Final Judgment, from agreeing, or attempting to agree,
with another person to refrain from cold calling, soliciting, recruiting, or otherwise competing
for employees of the other person. It also prohibits each Defendant from requesting or
pressuring another person to refrain from cold calling, soliciting, recruiting, or otherwise
competing for employees of the other person. Although the Complaint alleges only that the
Defendants agreed to ban cold calling of employees, the proposed Final Judgment more
broadly enjoins agreements regarding solicitation, recruitment and other methods of
competing for employees to provide prophylactic protection against other activities that could
interfere with competition for employees.

B. Conduct Not Prohibited

The Final Judgment does not prohibit all agreements related to employee solicitation and
recruitment. Section V makes clear that the proposed Final Judgment does not prohibit "no

direct solicitation provisions”@ that are reasonably necessary for, and thus ancillary to,

legitimate procompetitive collaborations.*) Such restraints remain subject to scrutiny under
the rule of reason.

Section V.A.1 does not prohibit no direct solicitation provisions contained in existing and
future employment or severance agreements with a Defendant's employees. Narrowly tailored
no direct solicitation provisions are often included in severance agreements and rarely present
competition concerns. Sections V.A.2-4 also makes clear that the proposed Final Judgment







